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DESCRIPTION

(Cfrlback Or‘;e) V
CONDITION (3¢ Excellent [C] Good [ Fair [C] Deteriorated [C] Ruins [] Unexposed
(Check One) (Check One)
3 Altered [C] Unaltered [] Moved K] Original Site

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Jose Antonio Navarro House Complex consists of three
stuccoed limestone buildings and a common patio. The complex is
on a corner near the large new County jail, close to the San
Antonio business district. At the southwest corner of the com-
plex there is a two-story stuccoed limestone office building,or
despacho, used as a law office by Navarro. This structure is
nearly square in plan and has a single room on each fdodr. The
hip roof is relatively low pitched with a gentle flare in the
lower portion and narrow eaves. Large, prominent quoins define
the outside corners of the building. The front facade is strong
ly symmetrical with two doors at the first story and two windows
placed above them at the second. The side facade faces West
Nuevo to the south of the complex, and has one door and one win-
dow at the first story. A rear door opens to the patio at the
east. There are no openings on the north side. The double doors
and the window shutters are of diagonally placed boards in a
chevron pattern. The windows are of the casement type, ten
lights in each casement. There are four-light transoms above
each first-story opening.

The Navarro House is a few feet to the north of the office
building, fronting on South Laredo Street. It is a generously
proportioned typical early Texas one-story house with wide front
gallery and with a rear ell with gallery extending from an inset
rear porch. Theee rooms open on to the rear gallery. The windows
are ten-light casement type with pang&&led shutters. The doors
are double with single vertical panels.

A third building, referred to as a kitchen, is set toward
the rear of the property, its side at the street that forms the
south boundary of the complex. The building has a hip roof
which is continued as an overshoot roof on the front and rear
porches. There are three rooms. The two rooms that open on to
the porches each have a fireplace. The windows in this section
are vertical six-over-six light double-hung sash type. The end
room, the room at the north, is the oldest portion of the build-|
ing stylistically, and has massive stone lintels and six-over-
six light windows. The porch columns have simple capitals. The
patio surface is of gravel and flagstone, and is landseaped.
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[T} Urban Planning
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The three stuccoed limestone buildings that make up the
Navarro House Complex, in San Antonio,
place of Jose Antonio Navarro, a significant figure in Texas
history. Navarro was born in San Antonio, February 27, 1795,
and was one of the two native Texans who signed the Texas Dee
claration of Independence, March 2, 1836. He was an active
proponent of independence for Texas in his youth against the
Spanish, and later against the Mexican government. He was a
friend of Stephen F. Austin, a representative of Texas in the
Mexican State Legistlature in 1824, and assisted in colonizatio:
projects of Milam, Wavell, and DeWitt. Navarro had land grants
in five counties, operated a general store, and practiced law.
Frequently elected representative of Bexar County before and
after independence and a member of the committee of twenty-one
which drafted the constitution of the Republic, he was also
delegate to the Convention which voted for Texas annexation in
1845.

Navarro was a commissioner on the ill-fated Santa Fe Exped-
ition in 1841, and was sentenced to death by Santa Anna; later
the sentence was commuted to life imprisonment. Navarro did
spend three years in the dungeon of San Juan de Ulloa before
his parole and escape.

In 1846 Navarro County was created in North Central Texas,
its county seat, Corsicana, named for the birthplace of Navarro
parents -- Corsica. As late as 1861, Jose Navarro was still
politically active and attended the Austin meeting to encourage
secession. All four of his sons fought in the Confederate Army.
Navarro died in San Antonio in 1871.

The Navarro House Complex is significant not only as the
residence of an important Texas patriot, but architecturally
significant as examples of San Antonio buildings of the 1850s.
The complex was purchased by the San Antonio Conservation :
Society in 1960 and restored in 1962. Brooks Martin, architect
for the restoration received the Texas Architectural Society
Award for Restoration in 1970 for his work on the Navarro Com-

were the home and budneq

lplex. (see continuationsheet—#2)
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8. Continued

The main dwelling and the other buildings have been furnnished|
with antiques of Texas, Louisiana, and Mexico, known to have been
in use in San Antonio during Navarro's lifetime. The office
contains an exhibit of pictures and documents telling the Navarro
story. The kitchen is used for social functions of the San

Antonio Conservation Society.

Recorded Texas Historic Landmark - 1964
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THE HOME OF
JOSE ANTONIO NAVARRO

228-232 South Laredo Street
San Antonio, Texas
(Across Nueva Street from Corporation Court)

Open to the Public
Daily: 10:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.

CocINA NAVARRO RESTAURANT
Weekdays: 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.

Ouwned and Restored by the
SAN ANTONIO CONSERVATION SOCIETY




“I have sworn to be a free Texian. I shall never forswear.”
JosE ANTONIO NAVARRO
1795-1871




One of the greatest Texans of all time, José Antonio Navarro, was born
in San Antonio de Bexar, February 27, 1795. He was the son of Angzl
Navarro, a proud emigré from the island of Corsica, and Maria Josefa Ruiz
de Navarro, whose family came to San Antonio from Saltillo, Mexico.

Sent back to Saltillo to school at the age of ten, the young Navarro came
home to learn his father's business just as the turbulence of revolt against
Spain swept over the New World. Members of his family were early activists
on the side of freedom from Mexico. When local rebellions were quelled
by Spanish arms in 1813, Navarro, then still only eighteen, fled as a political
refugee to Louisiana where he was forced to remain for three years.

Given amnesty, he came back to San Antonio to find his widowed mother
worn and destitute. He threw himself into the task of working and caring
for his mother and younger brothers and sisters. The family was under
constant suspicion by the Spanish authorities. Nevertheless, during this
period of hardship, Jos¢ Antonio Navarro found time to read law on his
own and to enter practice.

In 1821, when Mexico finally secured her independence from Spain, the
Navarro and Ruiz families again took their place as community leaders.
José Antonio Navarro was elected representative to the legislature of the
State of Coahuila and Texas which convened in the old capital of Monclova.
Navarro soon became known as the “Americanized Texan” because of his
“work on behalf of the new colonists from the United States and his friend-
ship with their lcader, Stephen F. Austin. He was for some time the land
agent for the Green Dewitt Colony.

As events moved toward the open break between Texas and the dictator
government of Antonio Lopez de Santa Anna, Navarro and his uncle, Fran-
cisco Ruiz found themselves again on the side of freedom.

On March 2, 1836, at Washington-on-the-Brazos, they both signed the
Texas Declaration of Independence. They were the only native Texans to
sign this momentous document.

Sam Houston's victory at the Battle of San Jacinto established the Republic
of Texas as a free nation. José Antonio Navarro first served his new country
in the capacity of representative to the first Texas Congress meeting at
Houston in 1838 and 1839.

Then, fatefully, in 1841, he was sent as a commissioner with the famous
Santa Fé Expedition. This brash band of Texans marched overland to the
high desert of New Mexico to try to convince the people there that they
should join the Republic of Texas rather than stay with Mexico. However
all were taken prisoner by New Mexican authorities and sent on another
cruelly long march to Mexico City to face Santa Anna’s wrath.
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José Antonio Navarro, his initial death sentence revoked in the Mexican
courts, was nevertheless held in a dungeon for years. He was kept under
constant pressure by the wily Santa Anna to forswear his allegiance to Texas.
This Navarro steadfastly refused to do, although his defiance meant continued
suffering and separation from his wife and children. Finally, after having
been removed to the grim prison of San Juan de Ulda in Vera Cruz, he
managed to escape by ship to New Orleans, arriving home in the winter
of 1845.

Ever after a free man in a free land, Navarro was, the very next year,
elected senator from Bexar County to the first State Legislature organized
after Texas joined the United States.

As time went on, Navarro devoted himself largely to his family and his
ranching activities on the San Gerénimo near Seguin and in Atascosa County.
He was probably happiest living and working at the Atascosa ranch, but spent
much time at the town house and adjo.ning office he had built in San Antonio
about 1850 on Laredo Street. It was in this stone house that José Antonio
Navarro died on January 13, 1871.

THE HOME OF JOSE ANTONIO NAVARRO

A pleasant walk across San Pedro Creck from the Spanish Governor's
Palace and.San Fernindo Cathedral, the home of José Antonio Navarro, great
Texas patriot and signer of the Texas Declaration of Independence, offers a
glimpse of home life in nineteenth-century San Antonio.

Two of the complex of three limestone houses were built about 1850, the
third probably even earlier in Spanish colonial time. The main dwelling, as
have the other buildings, has been furnished with antiques of Texas, Louisiana,
and Mexico, known to have been in use in San Antonio during Navarro's
lifetime. Several unusual pieces were made in the San Antonio area by local
furniture craftsmen of the day.

The corner building, originally the despacho, or office, of José Antonio
Navarro, and his sons, contains an exhibit of pictures and documents telling
the Navarro story, along with copies of the declaration of independence of
Texas and the United States and the Mex'can equivalent, the famous Grito
de Hidalgo.

The little old cocina, or kitchen, with its friendly shaded galleries, offers
a spot for visitors to sit and relax a while as they make their way about historic
San Antonio. :

A restaurant - “CocINA NAVARRO” - is now open Monday thru Friday
inside the quaint old kitchen. The “Cocina™ features special foods prepared
and served by volunteers from San Antonio Conservation Society.
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